A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Green Depot W A Pacific Coast LLC ("Green Depot") asks this 

Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating 

review designated in Part B of this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals denied attorney fees to Green Depot 

although it succeeded in obtaining the dismissal ofthe landlord's unlawful 

detainer action under RCW 59.12 against it. A copy of the decision is in 

the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-10. Green Depot moved to publish 

the opinion, and the Court of Appeals granted the motion. A copy of the 

order granting publication is in the Appendix at page A-11. 

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Where a commercial tenant successfully prevents a landlord from 

securing a writ of restitution pursuant to RCW 59.12, the commercial 

unlawful detainer statute, the action is dismissed, and the tenant remains in 

the premises for the full duration of the lease, is the tenant the prevailing 

party in the unlawful detainers action under the lease's attorney fee 

provision entitling it to recover its fees incurred in connection with the 

unlawful detainer action? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Petition for Review - 1 



The factual recitation in the Court of Appeals is largely correct, but 

Green Depot provides additional facts pertinent to this Court's review 

decision. 

Green Depot is a part of a family of companies constituting the 

nation's leading supplier of environmentally friendly building products, 

services, and solutions at 13 locations and 20 warehouses nationwide, as 

of March 2012. CP 99. Green Depot has been recognized for its 

environmental stewardship, receiving a 2010 environmental quality award 

from the United States Environmental Protection Agency. CP 99-100. 

This matter arose out of a lease of approximately 38,000 square 

feet of commercial space at 4121 1st A venue South in Seattle, where 

Green Depot's Seattle store was located until March 22, 2012. CP 100. 

The lease was originally signed by Bit Holdings Sixty-One, Inc., as 

landlord, and by Built-E, Inc., as tenant. /d. By an assignment and 

assumption of lease, Green Depot subsequently acquired Built-E's rights 

under the lease, CP 45-48, 1 00, and 4105 1st A venue South Investments, 

Inc. ("41 05") became the assignee of Bit Holdings Sixty-One. CP 100. It 

is undisputed that the lease terminated by its own terms on March 22, 

2012. CP 100, 105. 

Even though less than two and a half months remained on the five

year lease, 4105 commenced this action under RCW 59.12 on January 9, 
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2012, seeking restitution of the premises, double damages and judgment 

for its costs and disbursements, including reasonable attorney fees, "as 

authorized by the parties' written agreement and RCW 4.84.330 ... " CP 

2. 1 At the time of the initial show cause hearings in the case, 4105 

actually sought more than $203,000 in damages plus fees. CP 113, 114. 

One show cause hearing resulted in no relief for 41 05 because it had not 

paid its corporate fees to the Secretary of State. CP 113, 119. At another, 

a Commissioner expressed doubts that Green Depot owed 41 05 anything, 

RP 29, and the Commissioner denied a writ of restitution and set the case 

for expedited trial on March 26,2012. CP 16-17, 114; RP 28, 29. 

Because, by its terms, the lease terminated on March 22, 2012, the 

parties ultimately agreed to strike the trial date. CP 115.2 4105 proposed 

a stipulated dismissal of its unlawful detainer action. CP 136. Green 

Depot did not sign that stipulation and filed a motion for fees. CP 87-98. 

The trial court denied the motion for fees. CP 145-46.3 

1 4105 also filed a separate breach of contract action. That case settled after 
mediation before the Court of Appeals opinion here was filed, but the parties specifically 
reserved the issue of Green Depot's fee entitlement in the unlawful detainer action for 
resolution by the courts. 

2 Thus, 4105 accomplished nothing in the unlawful retainer action, except 
costing Green Depot the fees and costs incurred in its successful defense. 

3 4105 argued below that, the trial court lacked jurisdiction to address the fee 
issue. CP 135, 136. It is not clear if this argument affected the trial court's decision. 
4105 abandoned the issue on appeal, br. of resp't at 8, in light of Housing Authority of 
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As noted by the Court of Appeals, op. at 3-4, the parties agreed to 

Green Depot remaining on the premises until March 22, 2012, the actual 

end of the lease term and that a writ of restitution could issue on March 

23, 2012. Op. at 4. Green Depot vacated the premises on March 22, 

2012, the last day of the lease. Op. at 4.4 

Ultimately, Green Depot moved to dismiss the unlawful detainer 

action, and it was dismissed on January 11, 2013. CP 173-74. Green 

Depot's right to secure fees in connection with the unlawful detainer 

action and 41 05' s breach of contract action were specifically preserved in 

the dismissal order. Id. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED5 

This case presents a simple issue of the enforceability of attorney 

fee provisions in a commercial lease. The issue, though simple, has 

serious repercussions in the commercial leasing industry in Washington. 

City of Seattle v. Bin, 163 Wn. App. 367, 373, 260 P.3d 900 (2011). The Court of 
Appeals noted the trial court had jurisdiction to address the fee issue. Op. at 6 n.3. 

4 It is important to note that Green Depot's counsel advised the commissioner at 
the February 24, 2012 show cause hearing that Green Depot had no intention of holding 
over past the March 22, 2012 end date of the lease, RP 25-26, and it did not do so. 

In sum, Green Depot stayed in the premises through the appointed terminal date 
of the lease, March 22,2012, notwithstanding 4105's unlawful detainer action. 

5 This Court is fully familiar with the criteria for review set forth in RAP 
13.4(b). This case involves a classic conflict with decisions of this Court and among 
decisions of the Court of Appeals, RAP 13.4(b)(2). It is also a case involving an issue of 
substantial public interest this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 
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Very broad attorney fee provisions are at issue here. The lease 

provides in section 24.11 : 

Attorney's Fees. If either party brings an action regarding 
terms or rights under this Lease, the prevailing party in any 
action, on trial or appeal, is entitled to reasonable attorneys' 
fees as fixed by the court to be paid by the losing party. 
The term "attorney's fees" shall include, but is not limited 
to, reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in any and all 
judicial, bankruptcy reorganization, administrative and 
other proceedings, including appellate proceedings, 
whether the proceedings arise before or after entry of a 
final judgment, and all costs and disbursements in 
connection with the matter. 

CP 107-08. Similarly, the assignment and assumption agreement states in 

paragraph 4: 

Attorney's Fees. If any party commences an action against 
any of the parties arising out of or in connection with the 
Lease or this Agreement, the prevailing party or parties 
shall be entitled to recover from the losing party or parties 
reasonable attorney's fees and all costs of suit, whether or 
not the action is filed or prosecuted to judgment. 

CP 45-46. 

The core question at issue here is whether Green Depot is the 

"prevailing party" in the unlawful detainer action brought by 41 05 under 

RCW 59 .12. The Court of Appeals concluded that Green Depot was not 

the prevailing party because the breach of contract case remained pending: 

Because Green Depot vacated the premises at the end of the 
lease term, the expedited trial date in the unlawful detainer 
action was stricken and 41 05 was entitled to pursue its 
claim for unpaid rent and damages in the breach of contract 
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action. As the superior court noted in the order denying 
Green Depot's motion for an award of attorney fees and 
costs in the unlawful detainer action, the dispute over the 
past due rent and damages as well as the request for an 
award of attorney fees and costs would be resolved in the 
pending breach of contract action. 

Op. at 9. Thus, the Court of Appeals conflated 4105's two actions --

unlawful detainer and damages breach of contract. See also, op. at 10. 

A critical flaw in the Court of Appeals analysis is its failure to 

recognize that unlawful detainer actions under RCW 59.12 and an action 

for damages for rent due and unpaid are distinct actions, each with a 

distinct focus. An unlawful detainer action is a summary procedure, the 

essence of which is to oust a tenant from possession of the premises. In 

fact, a tenant may not even assert counterclaims as a defense to such 

action. Granat v. Keasler, 99 Wn.2d 564, 571, 663 P.2d 830 (1983), cert. 

denied, 464 U.S. 1018 (1983). In Granat, this Court acknowledged that in 

an unlawful detainer action, the Legislature intended to limit such an 

unlawful detainer action "to the landlord's right of possession." !d. The 

principle has been re-affirmed in numerous subsequent decisions. Munden 

v. Hazelrigg, 105 Wn.2d 39, 45, 711 P.2d 295 (1985) (unlawful detainer 

action limited to possession and related issues of restitution of the 

premises and rent). See also, Angelo Property Co., LP v. Hafiz, 167 Wn. 

App. 789, 274 P.3d 1075, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1012 (2012) 
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(limitations on trial court's authority over tenant's counterclaims in 

unlawful detainer action); Hall v. Feigenbaum,_ Wn. App. _, 319 

P.3d 61 (2014) (a court hearing an unlawful detainer action does not sit as 

a general jurisdiction court but as a special statutory tribunal). 6 

Looking to the specific language of the fee provisions at issue here, 

there is no question that an unlawful detainer action is "an action 

regarding terms or rights" under the lease or an action "arising out of or in 

connection with" the lease or the assignment agreement. Moreover, it is 

undisputed that 4105 lost in the unlawful detainer action -- Green Depot 

remained in possession of the premises for the entire lease term. Green 

Depot prevailed in the unlawful detainer action. 

The concept of a "prevailing party" has been construed with a 

practical eye by Washington courts. To be a prevailing party for purposes 

of fees, courts look to see if the party obtained significant relief on the 

claims it presented to the courts; the party need not prevail on its entire 

claim. Hawkins v. Die!, 166 Wn. App. 1, 10,269 P.3d 1049 (2011). 

In determining if a party "prevailed," this Court has directed that 

the starting place for any analysis is the language of the specific fee 

agreement. Be/for USA Group Inc. v. Thiel, 160 Wn.2d 669, 671, 160 

6 These cases document that a party may convert an unlawful detainer action 
into a traditional civil action once the issue of possession of the premises is resolved. Of 
course, that was not relevant here where 4105 filed a separate action for damages. 
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P .3d 39 (2007). Here, the fee provision at issue allowed the winning party 

to recover fees from the losing party in "any and all" legal proceedings 

before and after the final judgment. Green Depot avoided its ouster from 

the premises by 4105 and obtained dismissal of the unlawful detainer 

action filed against it. It remained in possession of the premises for the 

entire lease term. In the specific context of unlawful detainer-type 

situations, Washington courts in numerous cases have concluded that a 

tenant prevails where the landlord abandons the effort to legally restore its 

control over the premises. 

In deciding that Green Depot was not entitled to a fee award, the 

Court of Appeals attempted to distinguish decisions in which a dismissal 

of an unlawful detainer action was sufficient to establish that a tenant 

prevailed for purposes of a fee award, op. at 9-10, but its effort to 

distinguish these authorities is ultimately unpersuasive. The real issue as 

to whether a tenant prevails in an unlawful detainer appropriately focuses 

on the question of possession of the premises. 

In Walji v. Candyco, Inc., 57 Wn. App. 284, 288, 787 P.2d 946 

( 1990), Division I of the Court of Appeals considered a landlord's effort to 

enforce the terms of a commercial lease against its tenant. At a trial de 

novo following mandatory arbitration, the landlord took a voluntary 

dismissal without prejudice. Like 4105 here, the landlord in Walji 
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asserted that the tenant could not be the prevailing party absent a final 

judgment. Id. at 288. The Court of Appeals disagreed, noting that "a 

defendant who 'prevails' is ordinarily one against whom no affirmative 

judgment is entered." Id. (emphasis added). Both the Walji landlord and 

the landlord here effectively dropped their actions, leaving their tenants in 

possession of the premises. 7 

In Hawk v. Branjes, 97 Wn. App. 776, 986 P.2d 841 (1999), the 

landlord also discontinued its lawsuit for damages for rent due and an 

injunction relating to removal of fixtures. The landlord left the tenant in 

possession of the premises. The Court of Appeals applied a practical view 

of the definition of a prevailing party, ruling that with the landlord's 

"voluntary dismissal, the defendant has 'prevailed' in the commonsense 

meaning of the word." Jd. at 782. 

In Council House, Inc. v. Hawk, 136 Wn. App. 153, 147 P.3d 1305 

(2006), prior to trial in a residential unlawful detainer action, the landlord 

sought and obtained a voluntary dismissal without prejudice and without 

an award of fees, thereby leaving the tenant in possession of the premises. 

Hawk appealed the trial court's denial of her fees and costs as the 

prevailing party for successfully defending against the unlawful detainer 

7 Underlining the lack of meaningful different between Walji and this case is the 
fact that when Green Depot subsequently moved to dismiss 4105 lingering unlawful 
detainer action, 4105 did not even oppose dismissal, stating "plaintiff too believes that an 
Order of Dismissal should be entered." CP 161. 
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action. RCW 59.18.290. Recognizing that an unlawful detainer defense 

was at issue, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's denial of fees, 

holding: "Hawk is the prevailing party, because when a plaintiff takes a 

voluntary dismissal, the defendant has prevailed for purposes of fees." Id. 

at 159-60. See also, Housing Authority of City of Seattle, 163 Wn. App. at 

377 (tenant who secures order dismissing unlawful detainer action is 

prevailing party). 

Given the practical position of this Court and Washington courts 

generally on the definition of a prevailing party and the broad definition of 

a prevailing party in the applicable attorney fee provisions here, Green 

Depot prevailed over 41 05 in the unlawful detainer action. 4105 sought a 

writ of restitution to evict Green Depot from the premises prior to the end 

of the lease, but 41 05 received no such writ and Green Depot stayed in the 

premises for the full term of the lease. Green Depot prevailed in the 

unlawful detainer action. 

The possibility of a separate fee award in the separate breach of 

contract action between these parties has no bearing on the 

appropriateness of fees in the unlawful detainer action. The Walji court 

addressed this issue and deemed it "essential" to award fees in the 

unlawful detainer action at hand, whether or not the same fee provision 

might later be at issue in a separate action. 
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[I]t is essential to apply the attorney fee provision of the 
lease at the time of dismissal to effectuate the intent of 
the parties. If the litigation is renewed, the attorney fee 
provision might once more come into play and be applied 
to the plaintiffs benefit. There would be no 
inconsistency in such a result. This interpretation will 
inhibit frivolous or badly prepared lawsuits and will 
protect parties from the expense of defending claims 
which do not result in liability. 

Walji, 57 Wn. App. at 288-89.8 The same analysis must be applied here. 

The Court of Appeals conflated the unlawful detainer action with 41 05's 

separate breach of contract action. In the unlawful detainer action, Green 

Depot prevailed. The question of fees in the breach of contract action was 

a separate matter to be resolved in that distinct case. 

Simply put, the Court of Appeals decision here is contrary to the 

case law recognizing unlawful detainer actions as being distinct legal 

proceedings and to the practical definition of a prevailing party for a fee 

award utilized by Washington courts generally. It is also contrary to the 

specific results in Walji, Hawk, and Council House. Review is merited to 

8 The pendency of the separate breach of contract action also does not alter the 
fact that the rulings in this matter would effectively immunize landlords who file 
unlawful detainer actions late in a lease term from liability for fees. A landlord could file 
an unlawful detainer action late in a lease and, if successful, recover fees and costs 
(assuming the lease, as here, allowed such an award). If, on the other hand, the landlord, 
as here, were unsuccessful and accomplished nothing in its last-minute unlawful detainer 
action, and the tenant, as here, remained in possession throughout the lease term and 
moved out only when the lease ended, according to the Court of Appeals, the tenant 
would not be entitled to prevailing party fees for its successful defense. The Court of 
Appeals would thus rewrite bilateral fee provisions into one-way fee provisions in any 
comparable unlawful detainer actions. 

Petition for Review - 11 



resolve the contradiction between the Court of Appeals decision here and 

those cases. RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

Finally, review is also merited here because this case presents an 

important question of the application of common attorney fee provisions 

in commercial unlawful detainer actions. Attorney fee provisions in 

commercial leases are routine. Parties to commercial leases have occasion 

to participate in unlawful detainer actions under RCW 59.12. Those 

commercial landlords and tenants and their counsel would benefit from 

this Court's delineation of what constitutes a prevailing party in that 

special setting, regardless of what takes place in any separate action at law 

for damages. Green Depot believes that this Court should adhere to its 

practical, real world approach to the definition of a prevailing party. A 

commercial lease tenant prevails when it successfully avoids ouster from 

the premises sought by a landlord in the special statutory unlawful 

proceedings, as here. Review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

F. CONCLUSION 

Review is merited to address an important attorney fee issue 

involving commercial leases. Green Depot prevailed in 4105's unlawful 

detainer action, regardless of what occurred in the separate breach of 

contract action for damages, by retaining possession for the entire lease 
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term. 4105's unlawful detainer action under RCW 59.12 was dismissed 

and it did not secure possession of its premises. 

This Court should grant review and reverse the trial court's order 

on fees and remand the case to the trial court with directions to enter a 

judgment for Green Depot's unlawful detainer fees. 9 Costs on appeal, 

including reasonable attorney fees in accordance with RAP 18.1, should 

be awarded to Green Depot.