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

E. ARGUMENT 

Green Depot Merely Obtained a Trial Date 

As the Court of Appeals properly noted, the only reason that a Writ 

of Restitution was not issued at the Show Cause Hearing was because 

Green Depot asserted an affirmative defense that it did not owe 4105 rent 

5 Green Depot paid a significant amount to 4105 in connection with that settlement. 
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and/or the amount claimed was incorrect.6 Having raised a factual issue at 

the Show Cause Hearing, the Commissioner was required to certify the 

case for trial as provided for in RCW 59.12.130. 

Had that trial occurred, Green Depot would have had the burden of 

proving its affirmative defense - that it did not owe 4105 rent under the 

lease. However, because the King County Superior Court could not 

provide an earlier trial date, the term of the lease expired before the matter 

could be heard at the expedited trial. 7 Had the expedited trial occurred 

while possession remained at issue and had Green Depot proved its 

affirmative defense, only then could it have claimed it was the prevailing 

party. However, here, the very basis that allowed Green Depot to survive 

the Show Cause Hearing remained live as the central issue of the parties' 

ongoing breach of lease dispute, namely Green Depot's failure to pay the 

rent it owed 4105. 4105 never retreated from its claim it was entitled to 

rent. In that regard, Green Depot's "affirmative defense" in the unlawful 

detainer action was left to be resolved in the breach of contract suit that 

was never abandoned by 4105. 

The early initial outcome of the unlawful detainer action was 

similar to a baseball game that is "rained out". There is not a winner or a 

loser in the rained out game but, rather, it is scheduled to be replayed at a 

6 4105 1st Ave. S. Investments, LLC v. Green Depot WA Pac. Coast, LLC at, 21. 
7 Unlike RCW 59.18.380 (the Residential Landlord Tenant Act) which requires a trial be 
held "within thirty days", there are no specific time parameters in RCW 59.12.130, but 
the statute merely requires that the expedited trial "take precedence of all other civil 
actions." Thus, the fact that the trial date was set after the end of the lease term was a 
fortuitous event for Green Depot, but did not provide a basis that it prevailed on its 
affirmative defense that it did not owe rent to 4105. 
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later date. Here, Green Depot's claimed affirmative defense that it did not 

owe rent was never adjudicated in the unlawful detainer action, but was 

"rescheduled" for resolution in the breach of contract case on the ordinary 

civil trial calendar as opposed to the expedited unlawful detainer calendar. 

Had Green Depot been able to prove its affirmative defense (that it did not 

owe 4105 rent) in the breach of contract lawsuit, it could have then 

claimed "prevailing party" status which would have entitled Green Depot 

to seek attorneys' fees and costs as provided for in the lease. 8 In this case 

Green Depot elected not to go to trial on the breach of contract claim and 

settled the matter by paying a substantial portion of the rent it owed to 

4105. Green Depot prevailed on nothing, the lease term expired and 

possession was no longer at issue. 

Green Depot Was Not the Prevailing Party 

Several of the cases cited by Green Depot actually provide a basis 

for denying the Petition for Review. In Belfor USA Group, Inc. v Thiet 

Belfor, the contractor-plaintiff, having first commenced an action in 

Superior Court, subsequently filed and won a successful motion to compel 

8 4105 1st Ave. S. Investments, LLC v. Green Depot WA Pac. Coast, LLC at ~ 16. 
"Attorney's Fees. If either party brings an action regarding terms or rights under this 
Lease, the prevailing party in any action, on trial or appeal, is entitled to reasonable 
attorneys' fees as fixed by the court to be paid by the losing party. The term "attorney's 
fees" shall include, but is not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in any and all 
judicial, bankruptcy, reorganization, administrative and other proceedings, including 
appellate proceedings, whether the proceedings arise before or after entry of a final 
judgment and all costs and disbursements in connection with the matter." (Emphasis 
added). This attorneys' fee clause in the lease is sufficiently broad to encompass an 
award of any attorneys' fees incurred the unlawful detainer action if Green Depot had 
come to trial and prevailed on its affirmative defense that it did not owe the rent. 
9 Be/for USA Group, Inc. v Thie/160 Wn.2d 669 (2007) 
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arbitration. In that case, the Court denied Belfor's claims for attorneys' 

fees based solely on its assertion that it prevailed on its motion to compel 

arbitration. While the Court denied those fees based on the limitations in 

the contract language, this Court held: "Nothing herein should be 

construed to mean that if Belfor prevails in arbitration, the arbitrator may 

not award Belfor all attorney fees incurred to that date in collecting under 

the contract. But at this point, Belfor is not yet a "prevailing party" for 

purposes of the contract's attorney fees provision."10 Like Belfor, Green 

Depot had the opportunity in the breach of contract case to prevail on its 

claim that it did not owe rent to 4105, but declined to. Had it proved its 

affirmative defense in the breach of contract case, it could have asked for 

all of its attorneys' fees incurred in that defense, including the fees spent 

in the unlawful detainer proceeding. However, Green Depot never 

became the "prevailing party" on its affirmative defense it did not owe 

rent in the unlawful detainer action or the breach of contract trial. 

It is well established law in Washington that: "Under RCW 

4.84.330, 'prevailing party' means the party in whose favor the court 

rendered final judgment. Riss v. Angel, 131 Wash.2d 612, 633, 934 P.2d 

669 (1997); Marassi v. Lau, 71 Wash.App. 912, 859 P.2d 605 (1993), 

abrogated on other grounds by Wachovia, 165 Wash.2d 481, 200 P.3d 

683."11 In this case, Green Depot cannot point to a "final judgment" that 

is in its favor. While our courts also hold "a defendant who successfully 

10 /d. at 671 (Emphasis added) 
11 Hawkins v. Die/, 166 Wn. App. 1, 10 (2011) 
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defends may be a prevailing party, 12
" that is not what occurred in this 

case. In Marine Enterprises (which involved a "substantially prevailing 

party" attorneys' fee provision) the Plaintiff obtained a judgment of less 

than $6,000.00 on its $600,000.00 claim and therefore was not the 

substantially prevailing party. However, the relevant distinguishing factor 

in that case is that judgments were actually entered which adjudicated the 

claims. In this case, Green Depot failed to pursue its affirmative defense 

to conclusion, and therefore it cannot claim it prevailed on anything. As 

noted by the Court of Appeals in this case, the only reason a Writ of 

Restitution was not issued at the Show Cause Hearing was because of 

Green Depot's affirmative defense. Had Green Depot elected to prosecute 

that claim through trial (which it had a perfect right to in the breach of 

contract claim) it might have eventually been deemed a prevailing party. 

However, Green Depot ultimately elected to settle the matter before trial 

and never prevailed on anything. 

In Hawkins v. Die!, the defendant (DMC) did not file a 

counterclaim against the plaintiff but, rather, asserted that it was a 

prevailing party because it successfully defended against a portion of the 

plaintiff's claims. In affirming the denial of DMC's attorneys' fee claims, 

the Court of Appeals held that "successfully defending a portion of the 

[plaintiff's] suit does not make them a prevailing party."13 In this case, 

12 Marine Enters, Inc. v. Sec. Pac. Trading Corp., 50 Wn. App. 768, 772 (1988) review 
denied Ill Wn.2d 1013 (1988) 
13 Hawkins v. Die/ at 12 
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Green Depot did not successfully defend against 4105's claims, and was 

never a prevailing party because no adjudication of the underlying dispute 

occurred in the unlawful detainer case; the claim for unpaid rent and 

Green Depot's affirmative defense it did not owe rent survived for final 

adjudication in the breach of contract case. The issue of possession 

became moot due to the expiration of the lease term, not because of 

anything Green Depot prevailed on. 

Even when viewed in a light extremely favorable to Green Depot, 

there is no basis for an attorneys' fee award because it can be viewed as a 

case where each party got some measure of the relief it was seeking. As 

explained in Hawkins, "[w]hen both parties prevail on a major issue, there 

may no prevailing party for attorney fee purposes. Phillips Bldg. Co. v. 

An, 81 Wn. App. 696, 702 (1996). 14 Here, 4105 obtained an order 

authorizing a Writ of Restitution which was never issued because 

possession was no longer stake by the expedited trial date. If, by some 

stretch of the imagination, Green Depot can claim it "prevailed", 4105 can 

similarly claim it prevailed by obtaining the writ. Under that strained 

view of the case, each party can claim it "prevailed" on a major issue and 

no attorneys' fees award would be appropriate to either side. 

The Decision Does Not Conflict With Other Court of Appeals Cases 

Green Depot seeks review pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b) (2) claiming 

that the decision conflicts with Walji, 15 Hawk/ 6 and Council House. 17 All 

14 ld at 10 
15 Walji v. Candyco, Inc., 57 Wn. App. 284 (1990) 
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of those cases are distinguishable by a common fact that, in each case, the 

landlord- plaintiff took a voluntary non-suit leaving the tenant in the same 

position as it was in at the outset of the case. Unlike those "landlord walk 

away" cases, 4105 vigorously pursued its claims for unpaid rent through 

the eve of the breach of contract trial. By relying on Walji while ignoring 

Wachovia Lending SBA, Green Depot fails to recognize an important 

Supreme Court case that calls Walji into question. The Court of Appeals 

in this case, properly recognized that Walji is not a controlling case as it 

was abrogated in Wachovia SBA Lending, Inc. v. Kraft. 18 In Wachovia 

SBA Lending this Court explains how Walji has been misapplied in 

prevailing party cases: 

Court of Appeals decisions that have explored this question rest on the 
mistaken "general rule" that "if a plaintiff voluntarily dismisses its entire 
action under CR 41, the defendant is considered to be the prevailing 
party for purposes of attorney fees under RCW 4.84.330." Marassi v. 
Lau, 71 Wash.App. 912, 918-19, 859 P.2d 605 (1993) (citing Walji v. 
Candyco, Inc., 57 Wash.App. 284, 288, 787 P.2d 946 (1990)); Allahyari 
v. Carter Subaru, 78 Wash.App. 518, 522-24, 897 P .2d 413 ( 1995) 

This reflects an incorrect view of our precedent. Marassi attributed this 
general rule to Walji, but Walji made no such statement. Walji merely 
held that the statutory definition of "prevailing party" under RCW 
4.84.330 could not be imposed where there was already a bilateral 
contract. Walji, 57 Wash.App. at 287-88, 787 P.2d 946. Although the 
Walji court explained that a voluntary dismissal cannot be used for the 
"purpose of precluding attorney fees to a defendant who has 'prevailed' 
as things stand at [the point of dismissal]," !d. at 289, 787 P.2d 946, this 
language was applicable to a bilateral contract that was not controlled by 
RCW 4.84.330. Walii never set forth a general rule that equated 
voluntary dismissal to a final judgment for the purposes of determining a 

16 Hawk v. Branjes, 97 Wn. App. 776 (1999) 
17 Council House, Inc. v. Hawk, 136 Wn. App. 153 (2006) 
18 Wachovia SBA Lending, Inc. v. Kraft, 165 Wn.2d 481 (2009) 
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prevailing party under RCW 4.84.330. The court in Marassi erred by 
applying the language of RCW 4.84.330 to a bilateral contract and 
further erred by citing Walji to suggest that under the statute, a voluntary 
dismissal amounts to a final judgment. Any reliance on Marassi in this 
case would be similarly flawed. 19 

In addition to ignoring Wachovia SBA Lending, Green Depot's 

citation of excerpts from Walji omits language that clearly places that case 

in its proper context. In citing Walji, Green Depot omits the words: 

[Since this case may never be renewed] it is essential to 
apply the attorney fee provision of the lease at the time of 
dismissal to effectuate the intent of the parties. If the 
litigation is renewed, the attorney fee provision might once 
more come into play and be applied to the plaintiffs 
benefit. There would be no inconsistency in such a result. 
This interpretation will inhibit frivolous or badly prepared 
lawsuits and will protect parties from the expense of 
defending claims which do not result in liability?0 

Those omitted words clearly distinguish Walji from the facts in this case. 

The fact that Walji was final at that point (with no other actual case 

pending) was crucial to the Court's reasoning. The matter was over and 

finished with no further action pending, other than a hypothetical 

possibility that the litigation could be renewed. In this case, the ongoing 

litigation was not hypothetical, but was actually continuing. That ongoing 

litigation provided the forum for Green Depot to prove its affirmative 

defense and become the prevailing party. However, Green Depot gave up 

its chance to become the prevailing party when it elected to settle the 

breach of contract case rather than prove its affirmative defense (that was 

19 !d. at 490 (Emphasis added) 
20 Walji at 288- 289 
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the sole basis for avoiding a Writ or Restitution at the Show Cause 

Hearing) that it owed no rent. 

The bottom line is that Walji, Hawk, Council House all present 

situations where the landlord sought possession of the premises, yet then 

on the eve of trial, with possession still at issue and the lease term 

continuing beyond the trial date, abandoned its effort to retake possession. 

Thus, the tenants in those cases prevailed on the issue of possession. 

Here, Green Depot did not prevail on the issue of possession, rather that 

issue became moot because of the expiration of the lease term, not 

anything Green Depot did in the litigation. 4505 continued to seek 

recovery of unpaid rent before the lease term expired and after it recovered 

the leased premises. In the end, Green Depot took nothing. 

The Case Does Not Present an Important Issue 

Viewed in light of RAP 13.4 (b) (4), this case does not involve "an 

Issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the 

Supreme Court." In fact, this is a rather pedestrian landlord-tenant dispute 

that has little "substantial public interest" and which was decided m 

accord with well-established jurisprudence in Washington State. 

This Court has long recognized the principle that landlord-tenant 

disputes that are no longer subject to the limited jurisdiction conferred 

under Chapter 59.12 RCW can continue through to resolution on the 

regular civil calendar. Munden v. Hazelrigi1 and its progeny clearly 

21 Munden v. Hazelrigg, 105 Wash.2d 39 (1985) 
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support the proposition that claims that were originally asserted as part of 

an unlawful detainer action can survive as an ordinary civil lawsuit once 

the issue of possession is no longer at stake. Also, this case is clearly 

distinguishable from the landlord "walk away" cases that result in finding 

the tenant to be the prevailing party when the landlord abandoned its claim 

for possession and any other relief. Here, the landlord never gave up its 

claims, but vigorously continued to pursue them in the context of a regular 

civil action in accordance with the holding of Hazelrigg_22 

Green Depot has not shown that the matters in this case are issues 

of substantial public interest. In reality, the general public has little or no 

interest in an attorneys' fee fight between a landlord and tenant in a 

commercial lease dispute. The discrete issues in this case are clearly 

governed by existing law and do not merit further review by the Supreme 

Court. 

F. CONCLUSION 

There is no basis for the Court to review this matter. The decision 

of the Court of Appeals is in total accord with existing Washington law, 

and Green Depot presents no compelling arguments that the issues in this 

case are of substantial public interest. 

22 In fact, by commencing a separate civil action, 4105 avoided much of the confusion 
that surrounds "converting" unlawful detainer cases to ordinary civil cases. Some of the 
cases cited by Green Depot clearly show the confusion that can result from trial court's 
failure to properly convert a case. See e.g. Angelo Property Co., LP v. Hafiz, 167 Wn. 
App. 789 (2012) (Trial court initially states it had converted an unlawful detainer case to 
an ordinary civil case, but later reversed its own ruling.); Hall v. Feigenbaum, 178 Wn. 
App. 811 (2014) (Confusion in the record regarding when a court actually "converted" 
the unlawful detainer action to an ordinary civil suit.) 

-17-



Green Depot did not "prevail" on a single claim in this dispute. 

All it did was assert an affirmative defense that required the issue of 

possession to be set for trial. It never proved its "claim" that it did not 

owe the rent under the lease and never obtained any affirmative judgment 

on that or any other issue. Green Depot had its chance to prove its claim 

and be the prevailing party if it had elected to stand trial in the breach of 

contract case. If Green Depot's alleged affirmative defenses were viable, 

it would have prevailed at trial and could then rightfully claim all of its 

attorneys' fees, including those incurred in the initial unlawful detainer 

action. Having elected not to try its "claim" Green Depot cannot be found 

to have prevailed on any matter in this case. 

The Court of Appeals properly distinguished the landlord "walk 

away" cases that Green Depot relies upon. This case is not at all like those 

because 41 05 never gave up its claim for unpaid rent and pursued Green 

Depot to the eve of trial. 

For the foregoing reasons, 4105 requests that the Petition for 

Review by the Supreme Court be denied.